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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
WESTERN DIVISION

STERLING ASKEW and SYLVIA ASKEW,
Plaintiffs,
VS. No. 14-cv-02080-STA-tmp

CITY OF MEMPHIS, et al.,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N

ORDER PARTIALLY GRANTING AND PARTIALLY DENYING
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
OF DEFENDANT CITY OF MEMPHIS

Plaintiffs Sterling and Sylvia Askéwfiled this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,
alleging that Defendants City of Memphand Defendant OfficerséNed Aufdenkamp and
Matthew DyesSviolated the civil rights of theireteased son, Steven Askew, under the Fourth
Amendment to the United Stat€®nstitution. Defendant City has filed a motion for summary
judgment. (ECF No. 178.) Plaintiffs hafiked a response to the motion (ECF No. 255), and
Defendant City has filed a reply to the respmn (ECF No. 271.) Fdhe reasons set forth

below, the motion for summary judgment RARTIALLY GRANTED and PARTIALLY

1 (Cmplt., ECF No. 1-2.) Mr. and Mrs. Askew hdited suit as next of kin of Steven Askew,
and Mr. Askew has filed suit in his capacity the Administrator Ad Litem/Personal
Representative of the Estate of Steven Askdd.) (

2 Defendant Officer Dyess is listed as both “Timothy Dyess” and “Matthew Dyess” in the

record. At his deposition, Defendant stateat this name is Matthew Dyess, (ECF No. 151-1),
and, therefore, the Court has usledt name in this order.
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DENIED.?

Summary judgment is proper “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together witie affidavits, if any, show #t there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and thétte moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of faw.”
When deciding a motion for summary judgment,dbert must review all the evidence and draw
all reasonable inferences favor of the non-movant. In reviewing a motion for summary
judgment, the Court views the evidence in tightlimost favorable tthe nonmoving party, and
it “may not make credibility determinations or weigh the evidefice.”

When the motion is supported by documentary proof such as depositions and affidavits,
the nonmoving party may not rest on his pleadingsratiter, must present some “specific facts
showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.These facts must be more than a scintilla of
evidence and must meet thtandard of whether a resmable juror could find by a
preponderance of the evidenthat the nonmoving parig entitled to a verdi¢. The Court

should ask “whether the evidenpeesents a sufficient disagreemdo require submission to a

% The motion for summary judgment of Defend@ificers was partiallgranted and partially
denied on June 21, 2016. (ECF No. 299.)

* Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).
> Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#5 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).
® Laster v. City of Kalamazo@46 F.3d 714, 726 (6th Cir. 2014).

’ Celotex Corp. v. Catrettd77 U.S. 317, 322 (198@astham v. Chesapeake Appalachia,
L.L.C, 754 F.3d 356, 360 (6th Cir. 2014).

8 Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In@77 U.S. 242, 252 (1986).



jury or whether it is so one-sided thate party must prevail as a matter of lawThe Court
must enter summary judgment “against a pavtyo fails to make a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essentidatoparty’s case and on which that party will
bear the burden of proof at tridf”

Background and Statement of Facts

The Court has previously quoted Magistrate Judge Tu M. Pham’s succinct summarization
of the background of the eventsigig rising to this aebn and the positions of the parties and
now reiterates it:

On the evening of January 17,13) the Memphis Police Department
(“MPD”) received a call concerningolld music coming from an apartment
located at 3193 Tyrol Court in Mgohis, Tennessee. MPD Officers Ned
Aufdenkamp and Matthew Dyess weresghtched to responib the call. For
reasons unknown, the Officers left therdlyCourt location after responding to
the noise complaint and went to adjacent apartment complex, the Windsor
Place Apartments, located at 3197 Royal Knight Cove. From here, the parties’
versions of events diverge drastically.

The City and the Officers (collectivel'Defendants”) allege that while
checking the same general area aroundiel Court apartments on the night in
guestion, the Officers saw Steven Ask@assed out behind the wheel of a
running vehicle in the parking lot of the Windsor Place Apartments. When the
Officers approached the vehicle to assehe situationOfficer Aufdenkamp
noticed a handgun in Askew’s lap and notified Officer Dyess. The Officers then
woke Askew up by tapping loudly onshcar window and shouting loud verbal
commands, at which time Askew madentisgestures towards the Officers and
pointed the gun at Officer AufdenkampBoth Officers opened fire on Askew,
which ultimately rsulted in his death.

Plaintiffs allege that on the night question, Askew was asleep in his car
in the parking lot of the Windsor Place #&pments, waiting for his girlfriend who
resides there to return from work.pbh spotting Askew in his vehicle, the
Officers angled their patrol car towards Askew’s car and turned on their overhead
lights to illuminate his vehicle; howevethe Officers never activated any blue

°1d. at 251 - 52.

10 Celotex 477 U.S. at 322.



lights, sirens, or other eergency equipment to get kew’'s attention. Plaintiffs

do not dispute that Askew had a gun in the car (which he was legally permitted to

carry), but assert that he never pointied gun at the Officergnd certainly did

not fire the weapon. Plaintiffs also pbiout that althouglone officer reported

that he saw Askew with a gun in his rigtegnd, Askew actually had a cigar in his

right hand at the time of the incident. The Officers fired a total of twenty-two

shots that night, hitting Askemultiple times and killing hint*

Defendant City has presented the followiratesment of facts in support of its motitih,
and Plaintiffs have presented addigbfacts that they deem material.
Shooting

On January 17, 2013, Memphis Police Offic&led Aufdenkamp and Matthew Dyess
were assigned to a two man marked squad car while working the Delta Shift (5:00 p.m. until
1:00 a.m.) for the Mt. Moriah Station. MemphPolice Department received a 9-1-1 call at
approximately 9:48 p.m. regarding a loud musatl at 3193 Tyrol Court in the Aspen Lake
Apartments. In response, Defendant Offiaeese dispatched to ¢harea of Tyrol Courtt MPD

Dispatch then notified Defendant Officers ofadditional complaint about loud music at another

apartment complex. Defendant Officers resporttatithey would “check both complexes.” As

1 (Ord. P. Grt'ing & P. Dnyihg Mot. Summ. J., pp. 3 — 4, EQNo. 299 (quoting Mag. J. Ord.
at pp. 2-4, ECF No. 285.)).

12 (Def's SOF, ECF No. 178-2.)

13 (PIs’ Resp. to Def's SOF & Add. Fcts., EGIB. 255-1.) Unless otherwise indicated, each
fact stated is not disputed by either pdadr the purpose of deting this motion only.

1 1t is unclear from the record whether Dedant Officers actually we to the Tyrol Court
location before going to the Windsor Place ApamiComplex. Whether Defendants did or did
not go and whether there was ahsgcrepancy in Defendants’ statents about whether they did
or did not go does not affect the Court’s decision.



a result of this call, Defendants went to Windsor Place Apartments.

Both apartment complexes were in Defendamtssigned ward, next to each other,
divided only by a fence; however, in ordergo from the Aspen Woods Apartments to the
Windsor Place Apartments, Defendants had to exit Aspen Woods onto Mendenhall Road, travel
to the traffic light at the intersection of Me@enhall and Knight Arnold, and enter the Windsor
Place Apartments on Knight Arnold.

As Defendant Officers made their wayoand the apartment complex, they observed a
1995 Ford vehicle backed into a parkingsp with a man in the driver's séatAccording to
Defendant Officers, they approachec thehicle to perform a welfare chetk. Defendants
pointed the overhead lights ofetih police car toward the veh&land approached the vehicle
with their flashlights shining. Defendants did hatve their patrol car’s bé lights or their siren
on, did not check the car’s license plates anfitbal plate numbers into Dispatch, and did not
use their PA system; none of this was in violatof the City of Memphis’ policy, but for safety
they should have run the plate numbers.

Defendant Officers did not calibr back-up before approaching the vehicle. Defendant

1> The parties have referred to this apartneemplex as both “Windsor Place” and “Windsor
Court.”

16" At this point, the parties/ersions of events begin to diffdrastically. Defendant maintains
that the car was running and thia¢ man, later identified asepthen Askew, was “slumped over
in the driver's seat.” (Def's SOF, 1 5, EGle. 178-2.) Plaintiffcontend that Askew was
sitting in his car, asleep, withalwindows rolled up and the engini qust prior to the shooting.
(Pls’ Resp. to Def's SOF & Add. Fcts., 5, ECF No. 255-1.)

17" Although Plaintiffs argue thahere was no need for Deferd Officers to approach the
vehicle, {d. at § 8), they have preded no evidence that Defendandtated reason was not their
actual motivation in approachingetlear; Plaintiffs continue tdispute that the car was running
as Defendants approached it.



Officer Dyess went to thdriver's side and knockedn the driver's side windo#. Defendant
Officer Aufdenkamp moved towarthe passenger side reamadow and began tapping on it. A
partially full bottle of liquor was in the car.

Both Defendants were shining their flashligini® the car. As aesult, Askew began to
stir and move a little. Askew looked at Defend®fficers and made some type of sign or
gesture with his left hand.

Defendant Officer Aufdenkamp later testdiehat, when Askew moved his hands, he
thought he saw the handle of a handgun in the'snap between his legs, and he alerted
Defendant Officer Dyess to this fact.After the shooting, a gun lemging to Askew was found
on the floor of the car by his legs withp®rtion of it being under the seat and a portion
protruding from under the set.

Both Defendant Officers took a step back and drew their wedpobsfendant Officers
can be heard on an audio recording with Disp&tah times during the relevant time period of

this incident. During the first interaction, f@adant Officer Aufdenkamp reported seeing a

18 plaintiffs dispute whether Bendant Officers called to Askeiw addition to knocking on the
window. (d. at §{ 10, 13.)

19 plaintiffs dispute whethddefendant Officers saikskew make a hand gesture before they
saw the gun or after ¢ty saw the gun.Id. at Y 16, 17.) Any dispuses to this fact does not
affect the Court’s decision.

20 The Court has previously foutlaat there is a disputed issoifact as to whether Askew
pointed his gun at Defendant Offiseas they have claimed. (ORI Grt'ing & P. Dny’ing Mot.
Summ. J., p. 23, ECF No. 299.)

L plaintiffs dispute whether Defendant Officers gave “loud commands” to Askew to not touch
the gun and to put his hands up. (PIls’ Respdbs SOF & Add. Fcts., § 20, ECF No. 255-1.)
Defendant City has objected to two of Plaintifistnesses who have submitted affidavits stating
that they did not hear DefenateOfficers give loud command$hat objection is discussed

below.



weapon and asked for back-tfmgnd then fifteen to twenty-four seconds later Defendant Officer
Aufdenkamp reported that shots had been firedp&ich recorded the “shots fired, shots fired”
call at approximately 10:00 p.m. Defendargguested an ambulance because a suspect was
down. Defendant Officers fired twenty-two shiaind hit Askew nineries resulting in Askew’s
death. Askew was shot six times in the back @meltime in the back of his neck. One or more
of these seven shots was the fatal shot.

Other officers and an ambulance and padimarrived on the scene. Askew was found
dead with a cigar or cigarette between hdex finger and middle fingeof his right hand. He
was right handed and trained to shoot withriglst hand; he had a handgun carry permit.
Investigation

Subsequently, personnel from Memphis PobDapartment Inspectional Services Bureau
(“ISB"), % the Homicide Bureau, Felony Respons&rime Scene, and Uniformed Patrol
Supervisors arrived at the scene. Whenevemfdicer involved shooting occurs, there is a
criminal investigation by the Homicide Unit tietermine if the officers committed a crime and
an administrative investigation by ISB toteenine if the officers violated MPD poli&.

Homicide is in charge of the s@im an officer involved shooting.

22 plaintiffs contend that Dendant Officer Aufdenkamp used‘calm” voice during the first
audio recording, and, thus, they reason fiskew could not have been awake and making
allegedly threatening gesturasd/or pointing his gun at thabint during the encounterld( at
16.)

23|SB is MPD's internal overshg bureau that investigatefficer involved shootings.

24 Joint Homicide and ISB investigations @m&ended to serve as a “checks and balances”
system to make sure each g@eproper investigationld( at { 48.)



An investigation into the shooting then enséedviajor Mark Winters, a lieutenant with
ISB and a twenty-five year MPD veteran, was chlie the scene shortlgfter the shooting to
make certain the crime scene was properly processed, officers were assigned to assist the
Homicide and Crime Scene Investigation WnftCSI”), a witness canvas occurred, and the
officers were drug tested.

Winters assigned Jason Randolph, an eightean yeteran and seven year ISB veteran,
as lead ISB investigator. Rangblwas trained at the University Tennessee’s Internal Affairs
Investigative School and had investigated apprakaty fifty officer involved shootings, four to
five which were fataf’ Randolph came to the scene after the shooting and conducted his
investigation according to his training. Rarglolspoke briefly with Defendant Officers,
checked their weapons, and countednds. He was assisted by J.B. Cobb, an MPD veteran of
twenty years and ISB detective for seven gearCobb did separatéavalk-throughs” with
Defendant Officers to get general informatiabout what happened in order to assist the

investigation. No notes were taken duribgfendants’ walk-throughs of the incidéfit.

% Plaintiffs dispute whether Bendant Officers were separatat#or allowed to talk to each

other after the shooting, althoughsitMPD'’s policy to separate ¢hparticipants in an officer
shooting and not allow them to talk to each othé&. gt 1 26 - 27.) lis undisputed that
Defendant Officers talked to one another and others in a debriefing session before giving their
formal statements. (Def's Regplo Add Fcts, 1 7, ECF No. 271-1.)

6 plaintiffs contend that the crime sceneswat processed correctly and that a thorough
investigation, includindpcating all witnesses drinterviewing them, was not conducted. (PIs’
Resp. to Def's SOF & Add. Fcts., 11 28, 33, ECF No. 255-1.)

2" Plaintiffs point to Randolpk’testimony that some of his maig was “on the job” with MPD,
and they reason that Randolph learned poorstigative techniqguesdm Defendant City’s
“pattern of poor investigations officer involved shootings.” Id. at  35.)

8 The parties dispute the exteatwhich notes were made thigiht of the shooting. However,
if notes were actually madthey no longer exist.Id. at 11 43, 44.)



Homicide Lieutenant, Mark Miller, a twenty-eight year MPD veteran, came to the scene
to supervise the Homicide investigation, but imeitMiller nor any of te homicide detectives
spoke to Defendant Officers or were allowed to follow the ISB detective when he walked
through the crime scene with Defendant Officrs.

Miller assigned Homicide detective, Serge®hD. Merritt, as lead investigator. Merritt
was a twenty-eight year MPD veteran and had l@e&omicide investigatdior thirteen years.
Merritt had been involved in teto twenty officer involved shdimg investigations resulting in
death.

CSI Lieutenant, Aaron Kant, came to theese after the shooting and supervised the
work of his two scene officers, J.P. SmithdaMarcus Mosby. Kant vgaa thirty year MPD
veteran. CSI's job was to locate, document,emtlbnd preserve scene evidence, through photos
and otherwise, including taking custody of dadging the officer's weapons. Kant made Smith
lead CSI investigator but also directly particghin the investigation. Smith, an eighteen year
MPD veteran, came to the scene after the shooting.

Smith’s primary task was to photograph and tag evidence pertaining to Askew, the
vehicle and the shell casings; make sure that plvedos taken; identify people on the scene; and
make sure that evidence, including shelkiegs and bullet fragments, was recorded and
collected® He also took custody of Askew’s wemn from the vehicle. Smith wrote a CSI
report that was then given to Merritt.

Mosby, a twenty year MPD veteran, involved in five officer involved shooting

29 (1d. at ] 46.)

%0 Pplaintiffs dispute that afieople on the scene were ideietifand that the bullet fragments
were collected.ll. at  73.) However, they do nosdute that this was Smith’s job.



investigations, arrived after the scene hadaalyebeen secured. Mosby’s main responsibility
was securing and photographing tiéicers’ weapons, but he alsassisted Smith in securing
Askew’s weapon, taking photos, tagging evideran®] drafting a sketch of the crime scene,
noting the location of evidence.

Both Defendants were relieved of duty that night pending the outcome of the
investigation. In keeping witiMPD Policy and Procedures, eablefendant Officer gave his
formal statement (“Garrity Statent&nto Randolph and Cobb on January 21, 28/13.

An aggravated assault report was prepdmgédn MPD officer thenight of the shooting
based on an initial report by Defendant Offid@yess that Askew loafired his weapon at
Defendant Officers. Randolph did not receiveopycof the aggravated assault report; thus, he
did not include it in his ISB report. Homicid#es included the officer’'s statement concerning
the report but not the report itel Plaintiffs did not recei® a copy of the report until May
2015%

MPD should have conductedcanvass to obtain witnesses the night of the shooting
and should have properly documented such atenifhe canvassing of withesses on the scene

should have been done the night of the incidentstatéments taken theit.is important to do a

31 MPD has a policy in which detectivesist wait forty-eight hours before obtaining
information from officers involved in a shiig. (Order, p. 3., ECF No. 295.) Defendant
Officers gave their statements to ISB représtres Randolph and Cobb but did not speak to
homicide detectives because they had invoked ihieandarights. Before Defendant City
adopted the forty-eightdur waiting rule, Lieutenant. Miller @uld routinely talk to the officers
involved in shootings on the nigbf the incident while it wakesh in their minds and before
they had a chance to talk with others.e{B Reply to Add Fcts, 1 12, ECF No. 271-1.)

32 (PIs’ Resp. to Def's SOF & Add. Fcts., 1 32, BEGF No. 255-1.) Plaintiffs claim that the
failure to include the aggravatedsault report in the ISB and iaide records was part of an
intentional “cover-up” while Defendant City tesnt mere “inadvertence.” (Def's Reply at pp. 9
- 10, ECF No. 271.)

10



complete canvass of the area as soon as pogslibleing a shooting to make sure any potential
witnesses are locatéd The investigative techniques for administrative investigation are the
same as those for when handling a criminal investigation.

Deneshia Bowen, a witness, told Merritathprior to the shooting, she saw Askew’s
hands on the vehicle’s steering wheel. Merritt stated that he did nioBbwen would be able
to see Askew’s hands from her apartment windbw.

Merritt had Askew’s gun processed for fingerprititead the vehicle spected, obtained
the CSI's investigation report, viewed the autopsy report, including the information about the
drug and alcohol present in Askew’s system, amdewed the officer's drug tests. Merritt
delivered his file to his supervisor for submissiorthe District Attorneyand gave a copy to ISB
to assist ISB in its admistrative investigation.

Randolph supervised the preparation of BB report documenting the investigation of
the shooting. Randolph submitted his ISB report to Winters, who approved it, and passed it on to
his Major, who approved. ISB concluded thahe shooting was “justified” and not a violation
of MPD policy.

At the conclusion of the investigations byBl@nd the Homicide Bureau, the files were

submitted to the Shelby County District Attorn&eneral’'s Office. The District Attorney

¥ Pplaintiffs dispute whether all witnessesreréocated and whether Defendant City made
reasonable efforts to locate all the witnesses. (PIs’ Resp. to Def's SOF & Add. Fcts., 11 56 - 57,
63, ECF No. 255-1.)

3 (Def's Reply to Add Fcts, T 31, ECF N&v1-1.) Merritt acknowledged that, when he
interviewed Bowen, there was not a car parkedr@tfAskew’s car was paell and that he never
thought about parking a car in tisuot to see if he could sedadrthe car to determine whether
the witness was being truthful. (Pls’ RegpDef's SOF & Add. Fcts., 1 58, ECF No. 255-1.)

% Plaintiffs dispute whether fingerints were taken from the gunid(at 7 84 — 85.)

11



General declined to charge oopecute either Defendant Officer.

MPD policy does not require an officer to waitd allow someone to fire a weapon at
him before the officer is alloveeto fire his own weapon, although, tims case, it iglisputed as
to whether a weapon was ever pointed at the officéira person points weapon at an officer,
that officer is allowed talefend himself and fireis weapon under MPD policy.

Dr. Miguel Laboy, the Medical Examiner wihelby County, conducted the autopsy of
Steven Askew and prepared a report. A tdeigp report was performed on specimens gathered
from Askew at the time of his autopsy on Jamyul8, 2013. Askew was determined to have had
a blood alcohol concentration of .119 which isexcess of the legal limit. A small amount of
marijuana was also present in Askew’s system.

Nothing in the ISB or Homicide file showhat ISB contacted the medical examiners’
office about its findings or to discuss this casel, amfact, ISB made its findings before the final
autopsy was complete, and no odésiconsultant was hired torifg the stories of Defendant
Officers for ISB. Further, there was no investiga or inquiry by ISB into the trajectory of
bullets and entrance and exit wounds on Askdwdy. No analysis was done to determine how
the gun got from the passengatesivindow where the officesay Askew was pointing the gun
to the floorboard of the driver’s side.

Officer Training

Defendant Officers Aufdenkamp and DBge both graduated from MPD’s Training
Academy having each completed 840 hours of gtutén MPD’s policies and training in such
areas as use of firearms, use of force, aqgrimg vehicles, DUI dettion, and civil rights

protection. MPD’s policies and itsaining of Aufdenkamp and [@2gs were consistent with the

12



State of Tennessee’s Police officer certificatioandards and were approved by the State.
Lieutenant Colonel Gregory Sanders, commandéneatraining academy, t#ged that training
alone without consistent reinforcement of tterting is not enough andwtould be irresponsible

to provide initial trainng and not reinforce i

Winters testified that, following the investigation of the conduct of the officers in this
shooting, ISB did not recommend any additionaining for Dyess and Aufdenkamp. According
to Winters, all twenty-two bullets fired by Auddkamp and Dyess weresjified. MPD Director
Armstrong testified that Officer&ufdenkamp and Dyess acteddanformity with their training
in killing Steven Askew. Aufdenkamp testifiecatthis superiors affirmethat his actions were
proper in this shooting.

Randolph handles all investigations of offiaavolved shooting incidents in the same
general manner with the samethwlology as in this case, and he uses the same procedures and
gives the same level of attemti to all of them The ISB investigationn this case was done
according to the training provided to lead detective Randolph.

Prior Officer Discipline

Prior to this incident, MPD officer p®rmance monitoring programs noted that
Aufdenkamp had performance issues that suggested a need for intervention. Aufdenkamp’s
flagged performance issues were four “worltish complaints” for “courtesy,” specifically,
accusations that he was “rudeXufdenkamp received a one day suspension for the last courtesy
violation in March 2012 and wasferred to anger managemesgues. After thisuspension and

anger management referral in March 2012 through January 17, 2013, Aufdenkamp had no

3% Defendant City notes that MPD officers re@annual in-service traimj. (Def's Reply to
Add Fcts, § 35, ECF No. 271-1.)

13



disciplinary issues. Aufdenkamp served part of this time on a deék job.
Expert Reports

Michael Knox, who does forensic reconstruatiaf shooting incidents and was retained
by Plaintiffs as an expert, gathered dataluding testimony and physical evidence - which
included observing bullet hole#rajectories, and othethings - to reconsuct the scene of
Askew’s death and to analyzbe procedures used by MemghPolice Department officers
before, during, and after a shooting.

On April 27, 2016, this Court affirmed thdecision of the Magistrate Judge which
granted in part and denied in part the motionBefendant Officers and Bendant City to strike
Knox’s expert reporf® Specifically, as it related to theagins against Defendant City, the Court
allowed Knox’s opinion that “[w]hen approaching a person who is sigeipi a vehicle, it is
reasonable and prudent to assume that, dftlesd or awakened akly, the individual's
immediate perception of his surroundings migidt be clear. The individual may not
immediately recognize that he has been awakeggablice officers but may instead assume that
he has been approach[ed] bymemne wishing to do him harm®” Although Knox may not
opine about Askew’s actual staterofne, he may testify aboutdHikely reaction of a person in

Askew’s position, i.e., someone sleeping in a glehivho is “startledr awakened quickly™

37 Plaintiffs contend that thesgsues were anger management maturity issues rather than
mere “courtesy” issues and that Aufdenkamag other personnedsues that were not
determined to warrant intervention. (PI'sdReto Def's SOF & Addk-cts., 11 81-82, ECF No.
255-1))

% (Order, ECF No. 296.)

% (1d. at pp. 5-6.)

0 (1d. at p. 15.)

14



In looking at the “segmenting” rule, the Coaffirmed the Magistrate Judge’s decision
that Knox could consider Defendant Officers’ conduct leading up to Askew’s death in relation to
Plaintiffs’ failure to train claim against the City because the segmenting rule does not apply to
such claimg?

The Court allowed Knox’s testimony that “Qférs Aufdenkamp and Dyess testified that
they handled this incident in accordance withrthigining and that they were told they did a
good job with regard to this shooting . . ssming the officers’ testimony to be true and
accurate, the Memphis Police Department failedram the officers properly with respect to
handling incidents of this naturé&”

The Court also allowed Knox’s testimony thf{he Memphis Police Department failed
to conduct a thorough investigatioof this shooting and, by doing so, ratified the officers’
conduct without regard to the factuaicumstances surrounding the shootify.Additionally,

Knox may testify that Defendant fifers’ tactical decisins likely “caused or contributed to this
shooting.**

Plaintiffs retained the seoes of Garry L. McFaddero provide expert testimony

concerning the adequacy of the MPD investigatibAskew’s death, as well as the adequacy of

*1 (1d. at pp. 15 - 16.)

“2 (1d. at pp. 6 — 7.) Knox may not testify that ‘fifhiling to adequately investigate an officer-
involved shooting, the Memphis R Department is rubberstamg the officers’ conduct and
setting precedent for use of deadly force ingesions. The underlying nssage to rank-and-file
officers is that any use of deadly force is likedybe deemed justified as long as the officers
assert that they were in fear” becauss ffortion of Knox’s opiion is speculative.

3 (1d. atp. 9.)

* (1d. at pp. 9 - 10.)

15



the MPD'’s training of its officers generally. @pril 25, 2016, this Court affirmed the decision
of the Magistrate Judge which gtad in part and denied in pahe motion of Defendant City to
strike McFadden’s expert repdrt.

The Court allowed McFadden’s opinion tha¢ thiPD’s policy that hmicide detectives
must wait forty-eight hours before gettingidammation from officers involved in a shooting
hinders the detectives from prafyeinvestigating the incideff The Court also allowed
McFadden’s opinion that the investigation of Askedeath was inadequate because officers did
not interview potential withesseand individuals who lived at the apartment complex where the
incident occurred until several days lataryastigators did not preply follow up on a tip
provided by a witness who saildere was another individualhe saw the entire incident and
they did not attempt to locate the indivitluanvestigating officersnever explored the
inconsistency between various officers’ statements; and Defendant Officer Dyess was in a
“panicked state” when he fired his weagdn.

As with Knox’s testimony, the segmentinmgle did not prevent McFadden from
considering Defendant Officersonduct leading up to Askew’s death in relation to Plaintiffs’
failure to train claim because the segmenting ddes not apply to such claims, as previously

noted?*®

% (Order, ECF No. 295.)

% (1d. at p. 5.)

*7 (d. at p. 6.) The Court did not allow McFadden’s opinions concerthiagnotivation behind
the thoroughness of the investigation of Asketéath; the reason théioers’ stories might

have changed; and the effectdtué purported inadequate investign and inadguate training.

8 (d.atp.7.)

16



McFadden is also allowed to testify that “[tlhe officers testified that no supervising
officer had been critical of their conduct ore thight in question and ase MPD chose not to
discipline them for any of their actions, thPD has ratified their anduct”; “I think [the
Officers] purposely changed their statement after getting the information from the scene and
realizing that the scene evidence, forensiceawe or the ballistic evahce did not support what
they had first told Officer Drew;” and “Diswery Documents, including the statements and
testimony of Officers Dyess and Aufdenkampmdastrated that theiown unreliable and
deliberate conduct created the higskraspect of this encountér.”

The Court has incorporated its decisiogaming the expert opinions of Knox and
McFadden in determining whetheretle are material issues of dised fact that would defeat
Defendant City’s motion for summary judgment.

Obijection to Plaintiffs’ Affidavits

In its reply, Defendant City objects toakitiffs’ reliance on theaffidavits of Denicia
Davis and Billy Ray Kelley as to the everdkthe night of the shooting on the ground that
Plaintiffs’ attachment of the affidavits todin response was Defendanfisst notice that the
affiants had first-handnowledge of that nigh Defendant acknowledges having notice of
Davis and Kelley as potential witsges but state that the notgieen limited Davis and Kelley’'s
knowledge to Askew’s presence at the apartroentplex prior to the night of the shooting.

Plaintiffs disclosed that s and Kelley “saw Mr. Askevin the complex prior to the

9 (d. at pp. 7-8.)

0 (Def's Reply at p. 1, ECF No. 271.)
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night of the incident. Thegaw Mr. Askew in his car on ¢hnight prior to the incident®
Defendant reads both statementpesaining to dates before theident with “pror to the night

of the incident” in the first sentence and “nigirior to the incident” in the second sentence
meaning the same.

Plaintiffs would not have needed to make tstatements about the same information and
would not have changed the position of the medifprior” in each sentence if those sentences
were meant to mean the same.e Qourt reads the first sentence as stating that the affiants saw
Askew in the apartment complex sometime “priothie night of the incident,” i.e., before the
night of the shooting. The second sentence réaalsthey saw Askew in his vehicle “on the
night” (which relates back to “the night of the incident” ire tfirst sentence) “prior to the
incident” (with “prior to” modifying “the incidat.”) Thus, Plaintiffs properly disclosed that
Davis and Kelley saw Askew in his car on the nighguestion before (“prior to”) the shooting
occurred, and Defendant’s objectitmnthe affidavits is overruled.

Analysis

In support of its motion for summary judgnt, Defendant City makes the following
arguments: (1) Plaintiffs cannot prove a pattefrconstitutional violations by the Memphis
Police Department in the training of MPD Officénsuse of force; (2) Plaintiffs cannot prove a
pattern of constitutional violations by the Mempliolice Department in investigating use of
force by MPD officers; (3) Plaintiffs cannot progepattern of constitional violations by the
Memphis Police Department in terminating amddisciplining MPD offcers; (4) Plaintiffs

cannot prove a causal link betwebtPD’s use of force training, investigations of excessive

®L (1d. at p. 2 (quoting Pls’ Supp. Intekns. and Supp. Int. Discl.)).
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force by MPD officers, and/or the terminatiomdéor disciplining of MB officers and Officers
Aufdenkamp and Dyess’ use of deadly force agfafskew; and (5) Plaintiffs cannot prove that
Officers Aufdenkamp and Dyess viadt Askew’s constitutional rights.

The Court has previously found that thereaiglisputed issue of fact as to whether
Defendant Officers violatedskew’s constitutional right¥® Therefore, Defendd City’s fifth
ground, i.e., Plaintiffs cannot gve that Defendant Officers Adenkamp and Dyess violated
Askew'’s constitutional rights, is without merit.

Section 1983 imposes liabilipn any “person who, under colof any statute, ordinance,
regulation, custom or usage, afy State” subjects another tdét deprivation of any rights,
privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution or |&¥sli order to prevail on such a
claim, a 8 1983 plaintiff must establish “(1) thiaere was the deprivation of a right secured by
the Constitution and (2) that the deprivation was caused bysarpacting under color of state

IaW.”SS “

Section 1983 is not the source of any sabgve right, but merely provides a method
for vindicating federal rights elsewhere conferr&d.”
Generally, local governments such as Defen@atyt are not considered to be “persons”

under § 1983 and, thus, amet subject to suf’ However, when “execution of a government’s

%2 (Def's Mot. at p. 2, ECF No. 178.)

3 (Ord. P. Grt'ing & P. Dnyihg Mot. Summ. J., ECF No. 299.)

> 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

> Wittstock v. Mark A. Van Sile, In&30 F.3d 899, 902 (6th Cir. 2003).
**Humes v. Gillessl54 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1357 (W.D. Tenn. 2001).

" Monell v. N.Y.C. Dept. of Social Serv36 U.S. 658, 691 (1978).
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policy or custom, whether made by its lawmakerbythose whose edicts acts may fairly be
said to represent official policy, inflicts theojmplained of] injury [,]” municipalities and other
local governments are consideradperson” for purposes of § 1983. Section 1983 liability
does not attach to a municigglibased on the actions of iesnployee tortfeasors under the
doctrine of respondeat superianstead, such liability may onlye imposed on the basis of the
municipality’s owncustom or policy? “Under § 1983, local governmenare responsible only
for their own illegal acts” andnay not be held vicariously li¢e for the actions of their
employees?

Plaintiffs who seek to impose liabilitgn local governments under § 1983 must prove
that an action pursuant to an officalicy or custom caused their injuty. Official municipal
policy includes the decisions of a governmerndw/makers or the acts of its policymaking
officials.®? That is, a municipality’sgolicies” are “decisions of its duly constituted legislative
body or those officials whose acts may faibe said to be those of the municipalify.”
Alternatively, a “custom” is a practice that, whilet formally approved, “may fairly subject a

municipality to liability on the thory that the relevardractice is so widespread as to have the

%8 1d. at 694:see als®d. Of Cnty. Comm’rs of Bryan Cnty., Okl. v. Bro®80 U.S. 397, 403
(1997) (citingMonell).

% |d. at 691.

0 D’ Ambrosio v. Maring 747 F.3d 378, 386 (6th Cir. 2014) (quoti@ignnick v. Thompson
131 S. Ct. 1350, 1359 (2011)).

®1 Monell, 436 U.S. at 691.
%2 See Pembaur v. Cincinnati75 U.S. 469, 480 — 481 (1986).

% Bryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 403-04.
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force of law.®*

Absent proof it resulted from an unconstitutional policy, a city is not liable for a single
incident resulting in a constitutional violati®hFurthermore, a city isot liable unless there is
an “affirmative link between the policy and the tmarar constitutionaliolation alleged” or
“causal connection®

Failure to Train Claim

In the present case, Plaintiffs contend tBafendant City failed to train its officers
“regarding the proper manner ofvestigating a situation whereety happen upon an individual
who has fallen asleep in a parked vehitleind that this failure resulted in Askew’s death.
According to Plaintiffs, when Defendant OfficersssAskew in his vehicle, they “escalated this
situation and used deadly force without a prapeestigation, withouprovocation, and without
using alternative measures to deadly foffe.Defendant City contenddat Plaintiffs cannot
show a pattern of constitutionaiblations by the Memphis Polid@epartment in the training of
its officers in the use of force or that Defend@ity was on notice that argck of traning on its
part would lead to the violatiaof Askew’s constitutional rights.

When a municipality arms its officers so thia¢y can effectively perform arrests, a need

64 1d. at 404.
%5 Oklahoma City v. Tutt|ed71 U.S. 808, 823-824 (1985).

% |d. The Court has discussed the “causal connectieqiirement with each claim rather than
separately.

®" (PIs’ Resp. at p. 17, ECF No. 255.)

%8 (Cmplt. at T 27, ECF No. 1-2.)
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arises to train them regangj “the constitutional limitationsn the use of deadly forc€®” In
Connick v. Thompsoerthe Supreme Court discussed the contours of a § 1983 failure to train
claim.

In limited circumstances, a local govermtie decision notto train certain
employees about their legal duty to avoidlating citizens' rights may rise to the
level of an official government policlor purposes of § 1983. A municipality’s
culpability for a deprivation of rights &t its most tenuous where a claim turns on
a failure to trainSee Oklahoma City v. Tuttlé71 U.S. 808822—-823, 105 S. Ct.
2427, 85 L. Ed.2d 791 (1985) (plurality opni (“[A] ‘policy’ of ‘inadequate
training”” is “far more nebulous, and good deal further removed from the
constitutional violationthan was the policy iMonell’). To satisfy the statute, a
municipality’s failure to tain its employees in a relavarespect must amount to
“deliberate indifference to the rights of persons with whom the [untrained
employees] come into contacCanton[v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 388, 109 S. Ct.
1197 (1989)]. Only then “can such a shortcoming be properly thought of as a city
‘policy or custom’ thats actionable under § 1983d. at 389, 109 S. Ct. 1197.

“[D]eliberate indifference’ is a stringerstandard of fault, requiring proof that a
municipal actor disregardea known or obvious coequence of his action.”
Bryan Cty, 520 U.S. at 410, 117 S. Ct. 1382. Thwken city policymakers are
on actual or constructive notice thatparticular omission in their training
program causes city employees to violeitezens’ constitutional rights, the city
may be deemed deliberately indifferenthe policymakers choose to retain that
program.ld. at 407, 117 S. Ct. 1382. The city’pdlicy of inaction” in light of
notice that its program will cause constitutional violations “is the functional
equivalent of a decision by the citgelf to violate the ConstitutionCanton 489
U.S. at 395, 109 S. Ct. 119®'Connor, J., concurring ipart and dissenting in
part). A less stringent standard of fault fofailure-to-train claim “would result in
de facto respondeat superl@bility on municipalities ...."Id. at 392, 109 S. Ct.
1197;see also Pembaur, suprat 483, 106 S. Ct. 1292 (opinion of Brennan, J.)
(“[M]unicipal liability under 8 1983 attaches where—and only where—a
deliberate choice to follow a course attion is made from among various
alternatives by [the tevant] officials ...")"°

To establish liability, Plaintiffs acknowledgeaththey must prove that “(1) [Defendant

Officers’] training was inadequater the tasks performed; (2) tleadequacy was the result of

% City of Canton, Ohio v. Harrist89 U.S. 378, 390 n. 10 (1989).

0 Connick 563 U.S. at 61-62.
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[Defendant City’s] deliberate indifference; ai8) the inadequacy was closely related to or
closely caused [Askew’s] injury’* For a finding of deliberate infierence, a plaintiff ordinarily
must “show prior instances of unconstitutionahdoct demonstrating that the [municipality] has
ignored a history of abuse and was clearly oncedtinat the training in th particular area was
deficient and likely to cause injury® “Alternatively, [a] plaintiff{ ] could show deliberate
indifference through evidence of a single viaatiof federal rights, accompanied by a showing
that the [c]ity had failed to train its employets handle recurring situations presenting an
obvious potential fosuch a violation.*®

[Ilt may happen that in light of theluties assigned to specific officers or

employees the need for more or diffiet training isso obvious, and the

inadequacy so likely to result in theolation of constitutional rights, that the

policymakers ... can reasonably $sd to have been deditately indifferent to the

need. In that event, the failure to provipgeper training mayairly be said to

represent a policy for whichelcity is responsible, and for which the city may be

held liable if it actually causes injufy.

Here, there is no evidence in the record shgwprior instancesof unconstitutional

conduct demonstrating that [Def#ant City] has ignored a hisyoof abuse and was clearly on

notice that the training in this particularea was deficient and likely to cause injufy.”

"L (PIs’ Resp. at p. 18, ECF No. 255 (quotitis vs. Cleveland Mun. School Dis#55 F.3d
690, 700 (2006).)

2 Savoie v. Martin673 F.3d 488, 495 (6th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted).

3 Campbell v. City of Springboro, Ohid00 F.3d 779, 794 (6th Cir. 2012) (citiRtinton v.
Cnty. of Summijt540 F.3d 459, 464 (6th Cir. 2008) (redugy a “showing thathe [c]ity had
failed to train its employees to handle requgrsituations presentiran obvious potential for
such a violation” under single-violation theory).

" City of Canton489 U.S. at 390.

> Defendant City argues that Plaintiffs canpuaive that Defendant was on notice that Askew’s
rights would likely be violated by how Defendddificers approached him under the particular

23



Therefore, to survive summary judgment, Plaintiffigst point to evidence in the record showing
(1) disputed issues of fact as to whether Askefights were violated vém he was shot, which,
as noted previously, they hawready done, and (2) disputéssues of fact showing that
Defendant City failed to traibefendant Officers “tdhandle recurring siations presenting an
obvious potential for such aolation.” Plaintiffs must set fortfacts to indicatéhat there was a
“likelihood that the situgon would recur” and that it was gutictable “that an officer lacking
specific tools to handle that siti@t would violate citizens’ rights’®

The Court finds that there is evidence ia thcord which, if beliexdeby the trier of fact,
shows “a likelihood that #hsituation would recur.” OfficdRandolph testified that he had been
confronted with the situation of “a guy passed out behind the wheel dozens of fimes.”
Additionally, Defendant Officer Aufdenkamp téged that “while beng a police officer, I've
dealt with people slumped back” in a vehici@.”

There is also evidence in the record from wultiee trier of fact could find that Defendant
Officers lacked the “specific toolgdr training to handle the sittien of such a high risk stop.
The evidence shows that Defendant Officerdd@nkamp and Dyess received basic training on

search and seizure and the use of force, inatudeadly force, under the Fourth Amendment,

circumstances presented by this case and, thnsot prove that Defendant “made a deliberate
choice to follow a course of action that it hadic®would lead to a rigktviolation.” (Def’s
Memo. at p. 12, ECF No. 178-1.) The “recurringaiion” theory of liability does not require
Plaintiffs to show that Defendant had actoiatonstructive notice that its officers were
deficiently trainedSee Shadrick v. Hopkins Cty., K§05 F.3d 724, 739 (6th Cir. 2015) (citing
Connick 131 S. Ct. at 1360-61).

5 Bryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 409.
" (Randolph Depo. at p. 130, ECF No. 256-7.)

8 (Aufdenkamp Depo. at pp. 42 — 43, ECF No. 152-1.)
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and this training complies with the State of Tennessee’s requirements for tfaiiagh officer
also received forty hours of in-servicaitting each calendar year of employm&nt.

Defendant Officer Dyess testified in his deiios that he had received training in how to
approach a vehicle in an unknown situation, DUEdgbn, and the use of force in a deadly force
situation®* However, he acknowledgedsatti[t]here is nospecific guideline for an unknown risk
traffic stop where the occupamiay be drunk. The training that have is unknown or high risk
traffic stops. We are trained IDUI detection, but we are nttained in how to approach a
vehicle of un — with an unknown risk while e on [an] unknown risk sp where the occupant
might be drunk.® He also received no training in theeusf a flashlight in arousing someone
believed to be passed out from intoxicatfdnAdditionally, he testified that he had never been
trained to put his blue lights on to notify an mdual in a vehicle believed to be passed out from
intoxication that he was a police officér.

Defendant Officer Aufdenkamp testified thatwias trained in how to make a traffic stop
but acknowledged receiving no specific training on hovdeal with a suspicious vehicle with

unknown risk with a possible intoxicated person ffi it.

9 (Beasley Aff., ECF No. 174-1.Major Vincent Beasley is ehcommander of MPD’s Training
Academy. [d.)

80 (1d.)
81 (Dyess Depo. at pp. 174 - 175, 200, ECF No 151-1.)

8 (1d. at p. 175.)

8 (d. atp. 177.)

8 (1d. at p. 179.) (“I don’t think thaitve ever been trained to do thatthat specit situation.”)

8 (Aufdenkamp Depo. at pp. 56 — 59, ECF No. 152-1.)
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Lieutenant Colonel Gregory Sanderse tbtommander of MPD’s training academy in
January 2013, testified in his defasi that it is “within the disetion of the offters on how to
wake up an individual who'’s paed out behind the wheel ofaspicious vehicle with unknown
risk.”® Sanders was asked, “[D]o ybelieve that it is wise tovake up a drunk individual by
rapping on his window and shining a flaghii in his face?” He answered, “No, not
necessarily ¥

Plaintiffs’ experts have opined that the miag provided by Defendaity to its officers
was inadequat®. Knox opined that “Officers Aufdenkangnd Dyess testified that they handled
this incident in accordance witheir training and that they weteld they did a good job with
regard to this shoatg . . . Assuming the officers’ testimy to be true and accurate, the
Memphis Police Department failed to trainetlofficers properly with respect to handling
incidents of this naturé® According to Knox, if Defend# Officers handled the stop in
accordance with their training, théwhat [they] were trained tdo was if you see a man with a
gun in a car is to stand theamd stay in a posiin where they could point the gun at y&t.”

Knox also testified that, when an officer is mdcin a known, high-risk situation such as “an

8 (sanders Depo. at pp. 91 — 92, ECF No. 203.)

87 (1d. at p. 94.) Sanders stated ttds approach might be ustmigive the officer a tactical
advantage. I€. at p. 95.)

8 The Sixth Circuit permits the use of expestimony in establishingifare to train claims.
See Russo v. City of Cincinnd@b3 F.2d 1036, 1047 (6th Cir. 1992épecially in the context
of a failure to train claim, expetestimony may prove the sole ave available to plaintiffs to
call into question the adeacy of a municipality’s training procedures.”).

8 (Knox Report,  16.16, ECF No. 145.) In tieposition, Knox referred to the incident as a
“high risk stop.” (Knox Depo. at p. 163, ECF No. 256-19.)

90 (Id)
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individual in a vehicle witha firearm, and you are concernted your safety, then you would
initiate high risk vehicle stop procedures, nut stand there and challenge them with a gun
pointed at them. That's not tteppropriate way to handle thsituation. And so, if they were
following their training, thenheir training’s deficient™

Garry L. McFadden opined that, if DefemdaOfficers acted in accordance with their
training in “standing right at th car windows with their guns pued and with [their] voices
raised” in non-exigent circumstances, rathanttiirst seeking cover, then their training was
inadequaté?

From this evidence, the trier of fact could find that Defendant City failed to adequately
train MPD officers in how to effectuate higlskistops and that failure was the “moving force”
that resulted in Askew’s death and the violation of his constitutional fghthus, Plaintiffs
have presented sufficient evidence to survivarsary judgment on their failure to train claim,
and this portion of Defendaity’s motion is DENIED.

Failure to Investigate Claim

A municipality may be held liable under1®83 when the responsible law enforcement
official has “ratified” unconstitutional conduct by failing to investigate complaints of

constitutional violationg? although the failure to investigatlleged wrongful conduct does not

%L (1d. at pp. 163 — 164.)

%2 (McFadden Report at p. 16, ECF No. 134.)

% See Amerson v. Waterford TWg62 F. App’x 484, 491 (6th Cir. 2014) (reiterating that, to
sustain § 1983 municipablility, the plaintiff must establistmat the inadequate training was the

moving force behind the violatiasf his constitutional rights).

% Marchese v. Lucag58 F.2d 181 (6th Cir. 1985) (concluditigt the failure to investigate a
complaint “served to confirm the existenceaofunstated ‘policy’ of toleration of illegal
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per semandate a conclusion that the municipality &g®licy of toleating violationsof citizens’
rights. Instead, “it is when execution of a gawraent’s policy or custom, whether made by its
lawmakers or by those whose edicts or acts may faglgaid to represent official policy, inflicts
the injury that the govement as an entity isesponsible under § 198% Thus, to be liable
under a ratification theory, the magipality’s failure toinvestigate must béndicative of an
official policy.
Marchese read in light ofMonell and its progeny, makespast-injury failure to
investigate a fact which may permit amference that the misconduct which
injured the plaintiff was pursuant to aofficial policy or custom. Any other
reading would permit respondeat superiability for the failure to undertake an
investigation and would thus by-pass #tengent proximate cause requirements
discussed in ity of Oklahoma v. Tuttjed71 U.S. 808, 10%. Ct. 2427, 85
L.Ed.2d 791 (1985) an@ity of Springfield v. Kibbe480 U.S. 257, 107 S. Ct.
1114, 94 L.Ed.2d 293 (1987]
Accordingly, as noted by Defendant City, coun@ve consistently held that one failure to
investigate is insufficient to estiish municipal liability under théheory of inaction due, in part,
to lack of notice tahe municipality’’

In the present case, Plaintiffs contend thegre are facts in theecord that show the

existence of a pattern of Defendant City’s fesluo adequately ingtigate officer involved

brutality toward any county prisoner who hacetitened the life of a sheriff's deputy’See also
Leach vs. Shelby County Sher@®1 F.2d 1241 (6th Cir. 1989) (fimgj that a sheriff's failure to
investigate an incident of abuse of a paraplegitate demonstrated a policy or custom of
deliberate indifference to theeeds of paraplegic inmates).

% Monell, 436 U.S. at 694.
% Tompkins v. Fros$55 F. Supp. 468 (E.D. Mich. 1987).
" (Def's Memo. at p. 13, ECF No. 178-1 (citinigter alia, Burgess v. Fishei735 F.3d 462,

478-479 (6th Cir. 2013) annthomas v. City of Chattanoogd98 F.3d 426, 432-435 (6th Cir.
2005)).
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shootings, and they contend thia City’s repeated failure tio so was the moving force behind
Askew’s death. According to Plaintiffs, this pattern shoesberate indifference tantamount to
an official policy of inaction on the part of the City.

In support of their argument, Plaintiffs hgy@inted to evidence, whidf believed by the
trier of fact, tends to show inadequate scand subsequent separatiohDefendant Officers,
the failure to find and interview all potential witnesses, the failure to test the reliability of a
witness’s perception by parkingwehicle in the same spot that Askew’s vehicle was parked
while standing with the witness d&ter viewing spot, the lack dballistic or forensic work
performed on the vehicle to determine the triajgcof the bullets or to determine Defendant
Officers’ location at the time of the shooting, ane thilure to include irthe investigative record
(and timely provide to Plaintiffs’ counsel) angagvated assault report prepared on the night of
the shooting which contained statements indigathat Defendant Officers thought that Askew
had fired his gun at theffi.

The Court agrees with Defendant City theaen if true, standing alone these failures
show a “collection of sloppy, or em reckless, oversights” dag the investigation which does
not support a claim of deliberate indiffereriée. However, these alleged investigative
deficiencies do nagtand alone.

It is undisputed that nonef the investigating officersvho came to the scene of the
shooting were allowed to speak to or interviewddeant Officers that ght or were allowed to

follow the ISB detective whemhe walked through the crimeene with Defendant Officers

% (PIs’ Resp. at pp. 14 — 17, ECF No. 255.)

% (Def's Reply at p. 6, ECF No. 271 (quotibge v. Claiborne103 F.3d 495, 508 (6th Cir.
1996).)
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pursuant to Defendant City's affal policy that detetives must wait forty-eight hours before
obtaining information from officergvolved in a shooting. It is sb undisputed that, if notes
were made during Defendants’ lkahroughs of the incident, thesnotes were not provided to
the investigating officers and wedestroyed at som@int. Jason Randah, ISB investigator,
testified that the investigatiom this case was handled thergaas all other officer-involved
shootings->°

Plaintiffs’ expert, Garry McFadae has opined that the polit¢iiat homicide detectives
must wait forty-eight hours before gettingidammation from officers involved in a shooting
hinders the detectives from prafyeinvestigating the incidedf® Additionally, McFadden
opined that the investigation of Askew’s deatlswaadequate because officers did not interview
potential witnesses and individuals who livatl the apartment complex where the incident
occurred until several days later; investigaticsnot properly follow up on a tip provided by a
witness who said there was another individudlovsaw the entire incident and they did not
attempt to locate the individual; and investiggtofficers never explored the inconsistency
between various officers’ statemefits.McFadden also opined thatt]he officers testified that

no supervising officer had been critical of thednduct on the night iquestion and as the MPD

190 (Randolph Depo. at pp. 35, 40 — 41, ECF No. 256-7.)

101 (McFadden Depo. at pp. 37 — 38, 46 — 51, ECF184.) In its reply, Defendant argues that
the Court should reject McFaddsrgpinion as to the adequaafythe investigation and its
constitutionality. (Def's Reply at p. 7, ECF No. 271.) Theyews filed before Magistrate
Judge Pham’s decision that ttiged portions of McFaden’s opinion were admissible and before
this Court affirmed that decision. Defendarstguments go to the weight that should be given
to McFadden’s opinion at trial.

192 (McFadden Depo. at pp. 51 — 55, ECF No. 1@d;Fadden Aff. at p. 6, ECF No. 134.)
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chose not to discipline themrfany of their actions, the MPD has ratified their condif€t.”

Michael Knox, also Plaintiffs’ expert, has opththat “[tlhe Memphis Police Department
failed to conduct a thorough investigation of this shooting baypdloing so, ratified the officers’
conduct without regard to the factwilcumstances surrounding the shootily.”

Based on this evidence, if the trier of féicids that Defendant Officers used excessive
force against Askew, the trier of fact coulcenhfind that Defendan€ity ratified Defendant
Officers’ actions by failing meaningfully to investigate those #€ts“Viewed in this light,
evidence that a municipality inadequately investiegl an alleged constitutional violation can be
seen as evidence of a policy theduld condone the conduct at issd&” For these reasons,
Defendant City’s motion for judgment as a matter of law on its failure to investigate claim is
DENIED.

Failure to Discipline and Supervise Claims

Plaintiffs have alleged th&efendant Officer Aufdenkamipad “a history of aggression”
and that the failure to disciplirfém resulted in Askew’s deatfl’ Plaintiffs appear to argue that
every act of alleged on-the-job misconduct onghg of Defendant Officer Aufdenkamp should

have been subject to discipline leading ultimatel his termination so that he would not have

193 (McFadden Aff. at p. 15, ECF No. 134.)

104 (Knox Report,  16.15, ECF No. 145.)

195 See Otero v. Wop@16 F. Supp.2d 612, 627-28 (S.D. Ohio 2004) (cifright v. City of
Canton 138 F. Supp.2d 955, 966 (N.D. Ohio 200Bach 891 F.2d at 1246—48)archese 758
F.2d at 188) (discussing that aldige to investigate can be prioaf inaction, theeby ratifying the
deprivation resulting in omicipal liability for it).

106 (ld)

197 (Cmplt. at 1 62, ECF No.1-2.)
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been on the job on thegtit of the shooting.

Defendant City contends that it is enttleo summary judgmerdn this claim because
there is no evidence of a clear and conststpattern of Aufdekamp’s violating the
constitutional rights of others, notice by Dedant City of that pattern, and a deliberate
indifference by Defendant City resulting in a tmé to discipline and/or terminate Aufdenkamp
proximately causing the allegeiblation of Askew’s rights®®

While a municipality’s failure to investigatan officer's use of force may create an
inference that the alleged misconduct wasspant to an officiapolicy or customt® no such
inference is warranted in this case becausec@ffAufdenkamp’s disciplinary history prior to
January 17, 2013, contains no verified, excesfivee incidents in violation of a citizen’s

constitutional right$2° Plaintiffs’ argument that Defenda@tfficer Aufdenkamp “had a pitiful

198 (Def's Memo. at p. 16, ECF No. 178-1.)

199 See Brown v. Shanet72 F.3d 927, 931 (6th Cir. 1999egtribing a type of deliberate
indifference which establishes mumial liability when a city failgo act in response to repeated
complaints of constitutional violations by its officers).

110" (Aufdenkamp Personnel File, ECF No. 246-Aljhough it does appear that Aufdenkamp

had some anger management issues, the Courtty abitliscern the exterdf those issues is
hampered by the poor quality of the copies of the personnel documents submitted by Plaintiffs
and Plaintiffs’ reliance on a ikt of Job Performance Problstpurportedly found at ECF No.

246. ECF No. 246 is merely a “Nog¢ of Filing Personnel File of Defendant Ned Aufdenkamp.”
No list is attached. Plaintiffs also refer to [EMo0. 245, which is the personnel file of Defendant
Officer Dyess, and does natpport the statement made byiRtiffs concerning Officer
Aufdenkamp. (PIs’ Resp. at p. 21, ECF No. 255.) As notédkic v. Eisai Corp. of N. Am.

919 F. Supp.2d 936, 942 (W.D. Tenn. 2013),

“The court need consider only the citmaterials, but it may consider other
materials in the recordPed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3%ee also Emerson v. Novartis
Pharm. Corp, 446 Fed. Appx. 733, 736 (6th Cir. 2011) (“[JJudges are not like
pigs, hunting for truffles that mht be buried in the record.'§Ghi. Title Ins.

Corp. v. Magnusom87 F.3d 985, 995 (6th Cir. 2007 district court is not
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history of immaturity, disciplinary issues, anggsues and perhaps even evidence of racism” and
“should have been partnered with someone Whd more seniority than him to supervise”
instead of Defendant Offic@yess is speculative at bést.

As explained ir_ucijanic v. City of Columbus, Div. of Police

The failure to investigate and disci@inmay give rise to 8 1983 supervisory
liability. Walker[v. Norris 917 F.2d 1449, 1457 (6th Cir. 1990)]. However, this
liability arises where no sewis investigation is conducteGee Marchese v.
Lucas 758 F.2d 181, 188 (6th Cir. 1985). A gaweental entity is subject to
liability for failing to act on complaintsf misconduct by police officers only if it
had a policy or custom of failing to act upon prior similar complaints of
unconstitutional conductAndrews v. Fowler98 F.2d 1069, 1074-75 (8th Cir.
1996);Brown v. Shanerl72 F.3d 927, 931 (6th Cir. 1999) (city not liable where
plaintiffs produced no evidence that city, mmesent occasion or in the past, failed
to investigate and discipline the use edfcessive force by its police personnel
where such discipline was justified). Pl#iinmust also establish that the failure
to investigate misconduct or to discimi in the past was the “moving force”
behin(iilghe plaintiff's injurySearcy v. City of Daytor88 F.3d 282, 287 (6 th Cir.
1994).

In the present case, Plaintiffs have pointedo evidence showing that Defendant City
failed to act upon “prior similar complaints ahconstitutional conduct.”Instead, Defendant
Officer Aufdenkamp was in fact disdiped at various paoits in his career®> Therefore,

Defendant City is entitled to summary judgmenfaintiffs’ failure to discipline claim, and this

required to ‘search the entire record to essalthat it is bereft of a genuine issue
of material fact.™).

11 (PIs’ Resp. at p. 24, ECF No. 255.)
12 | ucijanic, 2006 WL 1000225 at *10 (S.D. Ohio Apr. 13, 2006).
113 See, e.gAufdenkamp Personnel File, Statemeh€harges, P. 42, 1/26/2012, ECF No. 246-

1 (finding that Officer Audenkamp should reeeza one day suspensiand attend an anger
management class because of amoration with another officer).
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portion of the motion is GRANTEB"

Although Plaintiffs contend that they have also brought a fatlursupervise claim
they have merely recited thaw concerning their claim. Inesponse to a properly supported
summary judgment motion, the non-moving pafty required to present some significant
probative evidence which makes it necessary solve the parties’ difieng versions of the
dispute at trial **® Because Plaintiffs have not dos® Defendant City is GRANTED summary
judgment on the failure to supervise claim.

Plaintiffs also allege that Defendant Ciiplated Askew’s constitutional rights by failing
to have a policy to counsel itéficers after another officer hamen killed in the line of dut}’
According to Plaintiffs, MPDOfficer Martoiya Lang was killed approximately two months
before Askew’s death and Defendant Officergaveot provided with guidance by Defendant
City “to not be quick tshoot and not to retaliafer Officer Lang’s death®

To the contrary, Lieutenant Colonel Sandestified that Defendant City did offer its

114 See Allen v. City of Benton Harh@013 WL 6512950 at *10 (W.D. Mich. Dec. 12, 2013)
(determining that, to the degree the City was avadithe misconduct of the officers, “it did not
tacitly approve of, let alone condone, such. T@dbntrary, both [officers] were punished for
their misdeeds in accordance wikie terms of the union coatit and after due deliberation
between the investigators, the chief of polexed the city manageBecause there was not a
custom of condoning violations of federal righPlaintiff cannot show a direct causal link
between her injury and Defendant’s conduct.”).

115 (PIs’ Resp. at pp. 24 — 25, ECF No. 255.)
116 Sixty Ivy Street Corp. v. Alexand822 F.2d 1432, 1435 (6th Cir987) (citation omitted).
117 (PIs’ Resp. at p. 25, ECF No. 255.)

118 (d.)
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officers counseling after the death of Officer L&ty Although counseling isot mandatory for
officers not directly involved #h an officer's death, supervising personnel may formally
recommend counseling for officetsbviously affected” by the deatl° Moreover, Plaintiffs’
suggestion that Defendant Offiseshot Askew in retaliation foOfficer Lang’s death is mere
speculation. Plaintiffs have pointed to eeidence showing a caudalk between Defendant
Officers’ alleged failure to attend counseliaffer Officer Lang’s death and the shooting of
Askew, and, thus, this claim fails.

Summary and Conclusion

The motion for summary judgment of Defendant City of Memphi®ARTIALLY
GRANTED andPARTIALLY DENIED. Defendant City is entitteto judgment as a matter of
law on Plaintiffs’ failure to disciplin@nd supervise claims, and the motiorGRANTED on
these claims. Defendant City is not entitled tdgonent as a matter of law on Plaintiffs’ failure
to train and failure to investigate claims, and the motid@&BII ED on these claims.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

g S. Thomas Anderson

S.THOMAS ANDERSON
WNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Date: July 8, 2016.

19 (sanders Depo. at pp. 139 — 140, ECF No. 203.)

120 (1d. at p. 140.)
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